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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Hon.

Crim. No. 18- C r-- (; j 1- tu e n1

v
RAMON MORALES,
a/kla"Ray Rizzo,"
a/k/ a "Rizzo,"
alk/ a "Rizzoliri"

18 u.S.C.
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INDICTMENT
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cD

The Grand Jury in and for tJ.e District of New Jersey, sitting at
Newark, charges:
COUI{T OI{E
(Racketeerlng Consplracyl

The Racketeedqg Egterprlse

1.

At various times relevant to this Indictment, in the District of

New Jersey, and elsewhere, defendant RAMON MORALES,

a/k/ a"Ray Rizzo,"

alkla'Rizzo," alkla"Rizmliri," and others, known and unknown,

were

members and associates of a criminal organization known as the New Jersey
set ofthe Grape Street Crips (the "NJ Grape Street Crips'). The NJ Grape
Street Crips, including its leadership, members, and associates, constituted an

enterprise, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1961(41, namely,
a group of individuals associated in fact that engaged in, and the activities of

which affected, interstate and foreign commerce

.

and

The enterprise constituted an

ongoing organization whose members and associates functioned as a
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continuing unit for a common purpose of achieving the objectives of the
enterprise.

Hlstory. Rules. aad Traditions of the I{J Grape Street Crips

2.

The NJ Grape Street Crips is a set of the Grape Street Crips

gang that originated in the Jordan Downs public-housing complex, which is

located between Grape Street and lO3rd Street in Watts, Los Angeles,

California.

3.

The NJ Grape Street Crips have followed many of the same

traditions and protocols of the Grape Street Crips and other Crip street gangs,
including:

a.

visible demonstrations of gang affiliation, such as an

identification with the colors purple and blue, which appear in clothing, hats,
and bandanas worn by NJ Grape Street Crips members;

b.

symbolic use of the number'103," including yearly

celebrations on October 3, also styled as "1O/3" or "ten-trey day," in reference
to the founding of the Grape Street Crips at the Jordan Downs public-housing
complex located on 103rd Street in Los Angeles;

c.

greeting each other with the phrases 'Watts up" or

'Watts Grapin," in reference to the gang's founding in Watts, los Angeles;

d.

tattoos, slogans, and hand gestures signiffing

membership in the NJ Grape Street Crips; and

e.

the use ofa system of rules and regulations governing

admission to and membership in the NJ Grape Street Crips.
2
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4.

The rules governing the NJ Grape Street Crips establish,

among other things:

a.

a hierarchical power structure in which members are

given designations or ranks signifying their status within the gang, which

ranks include, from senior rank to junior rank, "OOOG" (Triple OG; "OG" is
short for "Original Gangster'); "OOG" (Double OG); 'OG"; "G"; 'BG" (Baby
Gangster); followed by overseers, enforcers, and individual members, who are
referred to as soldiers;

b.

a system of discipline and punishment for those

members who violated rules, failed to carry out orders from higher-ups, or
"disrespected" the gang, in which offending members could be stripped of rank,
placed on probationary status, and/or physically assaulted or killed; and

c.

a system of incentives in which members who desired

to maintain, or rise in, rank and stature within the NJ Grape Street Crips were
expected and required to "put in work," which meant engaging in murders,

shootings, physical assaults, intimidation, drug traliicking, robberies,
extortion, and other criminal activities.

Organization of the NJ GraDe Street Crips Enterprise

5.

Within the NJ Grape Street Crips, ttre primary unit of

organization was by neighborhood and/or public-housing complex in and
around Newark, New Jersey.

6.

Members and associates of the NJ Grape Street Crips

engaged in, or controlled, drug trafficking and other criminal activities in
J
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various neighborhoods and public-housing complexes in and around Newark,
New Jersey, including, among others:

a.

the area of6th Avenue and North Sth Street (the "6th

b.

the Pennington Court public-housing complex located

Avenue I-ocation");

at the intersection of Pennington Street and Paciflc Street (the "Pennington

Court Location");

c.

the Oscar Miles public-housing complex located at the

intersection of Court Street and Broome Street (the "Court Street Location');

d.

the Millard Terrell Homes public-housing complex

located at the intersections of Riverview Court and Chapel Street (the
"Riverview Court Location");

e.

the John W. Hyatt public-housing complex located at

the intersection of Hawkins Street and Horatio Street (the "Hyatt Court
Location'); arrd

f.

the James Baxter public-housing complex formerly

located near Nesbitt and Orange Streets (the "Baxter Terrace location").

7.

Each ofthese neighborhoods and public-housing complexes

was controlled by a leader who was responsible for overseeing the NJ Grape
Street Crips operations and for authorizing criminal activity on beha-lf of the
enterprise.

8.

The members, associates, and leaders ofeach of these

neighborhoods and public-housing complexes fell under the overall leadership
4
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Ia

"Castor Troy,' who was the head of the NJ Grape Street Crips. One of Hamlet's

top deputies was Kwasi Mack,

a/k/a

"Welchs,"

a/k/a"Tlre Prince," a/k/a

"Mini Me."
Purooses of the NJ Gra

9.

Street Crips Enterorise

The purposes ofthe NJ Grape Street Crips included the

following:

a.

promoting and enhancing the enterprise and the

activities of its members and associates, both in and out of prison, which
activities included, but were not iimited to, drug trafficking, murder, robbery,

extortion, and other criminal activities;

b.

preserving and protecting the power, territory,

reputation, and profits of the enterprise and of its members and associates,
both in and out of prison, through the use of intimidation, violence, threats of
violence, assaults, and murder;

c.

keeping victims and community members in fear of the

enterprise and its members and associates through violence and threats of
violence;

d.

providing assistance to gang members and associates

who are imprisoned after having committed crimes on behalf of the gang;

e.

hindering, obstructing, and preventing law

enforcement from identifying participants in the gang's criminal activity, from

5
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apprehending the offenders of those crimes, and from successfully prosecuting
and punishing those offenders; and

f.

threatening, assaulting, or murdering individuals who

cooperated (or were believed to have cooperated) with law enforcement against

the enterprise.
Members and Assoclates of the EnterDrlse

10.
"Blizzie,"

a/k/a

Corey Hamlet,

a/k/a"C-Blaze," alkla "Blaze," alk/a

"Castor Troy' ("Coconspirator Hamlet), was the leader of the NJ

Grape Street Crips. Among other things, Hamlet directed and authorized acts
of violence against rivals of the NJ Grape Street Crips, as well as members and

associates ofthe NJ Grape Street Crips.
1

1.

Kwasi Mack,

a/k/a

"Welchs ,"

a/k/ a'The Prince," a/k/a

"Mini Me" ("Coconspirator Mack"), was a member of the NJ Grape Street Crips
who served as one of the top deputies of the NJ Grape Street Crips. Among
other responsibilities, Mack communicated with the leader of the NJ Grape
Street Crips and acted as an enforcer of the rules of the NJ Grape Street Crips.

72.

RAMON MORALES,

a/k/a"Ray Rizzo," alk/

a "Rizzo,"

a/k/a

"Rizzolini" f'MORALES), was a member of the NJ Grape Street Crips who
operated, among other places, in and around the Court Street Location and

who also involved in the transportation of firearms and narcotics up and down
the East Coast.

13.

Corey Batts,

a/k/a 'C-Murder,' alkla 'Cee" ("Coconspirator

Batts"), was a member of the NJ Grape Street Crips who operated, among other
6
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places, in and around the Court Street Location and who also involved in the

transportation of narcotics up and down the East Coast.

74.

Tony Phillips,

a/k/a "Blue" ("Coconspirator Phillips"),

was a

member of the NJ Grape Street Crips who operated in and around the Court
Street [,ocation.

15.

Ahmad Manley,

a/k/a "Fresh," alkla 'Moddi

G"

("Coconspirator Manle/), was a member of the NJ Grape Street Crips who
operated, among other places, in or around the Court Street Location.

16.

A.H.,

a/k/a

"Pac Man,'

alk/a"Hot

Dog" ('Coconspirator

A.H.'), was a member of the NJ Grape Street Crips who operated, among other
places, in or around the Court Street Location.

17.

Rashan Washington,

a/k/a "Shoota" ("Coconspirator

Washington'), was a member of the NJ Grape Street Crips who operated in and
around the 6th Avenue Location.

18.

Aaron Terrell,

a/k/a "Push'

("Coconspirator Terrell"), was a

member of the NJ Grape Street Crips who operated, among other places, in and

around the Baxter Terrace Location and in and around the Riverview Court
Location.

19.

Justin Carnegre, a/k/a "Dew Hi," alkla"Dew," a/k/ a"D"

('Coconspirator Carnegie"), was a member of the NJ Grape Street Crips who
operated, among other places, in and around the 6th Avenue Location.

7
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20.

C.P.,

a/kl
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a 'G-Hop" ("Coconspirator C.P."), was a member of

the NJ Grape Street Crips who was involved in transporting firearms to New
Jersey.

Ttre Racketeering Conspincy

21.

Beginning at least in or about 2O03, and continuing through

the date of this Indictment, in the District of New Jersey, and elsewhere, the
defendant,
RAMON MORALES,
a/k/a"Ray Rizzo,"

alkla"Rizzo,"
alkla"Rizzolini,"
together with others known and unknown, being a person employed by and
associated with the NJ Grape Street Crips, an enterprise engaged in, and the

activities of which affected, interstate and foreign commerce, knowingly and

intentionally conspired and agreed with others to violate Title 18, United States
Code, Section 1962(cl, that is to conduct and participate, directly and

indirectly, in the conduct of the affairs of the NJ Grape Street Crips enterprise
through a pattern of racketeering activity, as defined in Title 18, United States
Code, Sections 1961(1) and (5), which pattern of racketeering activity consisted
of:

a.
2C

:11

-3(a)( 1 ), 2c: I

1-

b.

multiple acts involving murder, contrary to N.J.S.A.

3(al(21, 2C:5- 1 (al, and 2C :5-2

;

multiple offenses involving the felonious manufacture,

importation, receiving, concealment, buying, selling, and otherwise dealing in a
8
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controlled substance punishable under the laws of the United States, in

violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 846 (conspiracy to distribute
a-nd possess

with intent to distribute controlled substances), Section 841

(distribution and possession with intent to distribute controlled substances),
and Section 843(b) (use of a communications facility to violate the Controlled
Substances Act).

22.

It was part of the conspiracy that the defendant agreed that

a conspirator would commit at least two acts of racketeering activity in the

conduct of the affairs of the enterprise.

Manner and Means of the Enterprise

23.

Among the manner and means by which the defendant and

other members and associates of the NJ Grape Street Crips conducted and
participated in the conduct of the affairs of the NJ Grape Street Crips were the
following:

a.

It was part ofthe conspiracy that the defendant and

other members and associates of the NJ Grape Street Crips committed and
agreed to commit acts of intimidation and violence, including murder,

attempted murder, assault with a deadly weapon, extortion, and robbery
against rival gang members or others; to avenge attacks or perceived slights
against other members and associates of the NJ Grape Street Crips; to punish
enterprise members and associates who had been disloyal; to retaliate against
rivals; to silence individuals who were perceived to be cooperating with law
enforcement against members and associates of NJ Grape Street Crips; and to
9
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maintain and enhance the reputation of the NJ Grape Street Crips for the
purpose of protecting and otherwise assisting their drug trafficking business.

b.

It was furttrer part of the conspiracy that participation

in criminal activity by a member, particularly violent acts directed at rivals or
as directed by the gang leadership, increased the respect accorded to that

member, resulted in that member's maintaining and increasing position in the
gang, and could result in a promotion to a leadership position.

c.

It was further part of the conspiracy that

Coconspirator Hamlet and other members of the NJ Grape Street Crips
taigeted Victim A.A. and associates of Victim A.A.-including members of the
NJ Grape Street Crips whom Coconspirator Hamlet believed were too close to

Victim A.A.-for extortion and vioient crimes, including murder, attempted
murder, and assault with a deadly weapon.

d.

It was further part of the conspiracy tl.at

Coconspirator Hamlet authorized and directed members of the NJ Grape Street
Crips to kill Victim A.A. and Victim A.W. and that, based on Coconspirator
Hamlet's authorization and direction, members of the NJ Grape Street Crips
killed Victim A.W. and attempted to kill Victim A.A. by repeatedly shooting
Victim A.A.

e.

It was further part of the conspiracy that members and

associates of the NJ Grape Street Crips were directed to carry or have

immediate access to firearms, and did in fact carry and use firearms, in order

10
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to protect themselves, their controlled substances, and their illegal proceeds,
and to tlrreaten others in furtherance of the interests of the criminal enterprise.

f.

It was further part of the conspiracy that MORALES,

Coconspirator C.P., Coconspirator Batts, and other members and associates of
the NJ Grape Street Crips were involved in transporting firearms and/or
narcotics to and from the area of Durham, North Carolina, to the area of
Newark, New Jersey.

g.

It was further part of the conspiracy that members and

associates of the NJ Grape Street Crips trafficked in illegal drugs, including
cocaine, cocaine base ("crack-cocaine'), and heroin. As referred to herein, a

"brick" is a street term that refers to a package of heroin containing five
'bund1es" of heroin, which, in turn, is a package containing ten individual

"hits," or doses, of heroin. These individual doses are packaged in glassine
envelopes that are referred to as "decks' or "bags" of heroin, Thus, one "brick"

contains fifty "decks," or doses, of heroin.

h.

It was further part of the conspiracy that members and

associates of the NJ Grape Street Crips used social media, including Instagram
and YouTube, and hip-hop songs to disseminate the rules arrd protocols ofthe

enterprise, to intimidate witnesses and other members of the community, and
to bolster the reputation of the NJ Grape Street Crips for violence and drug

trafficking.

i.

It was further part of the conspiracy that members and

associates of the NJ Grape Street Crips sought to conceal their crimina.l
1l
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activities by, among other means, obstructing justice and threatening and

intimidating witnesses. As described herein, members and associates of the NJ
Grape Street Crips used the phrase "187Al1Rats.' Because "187" is a reference

to Califomia Penal Code Section 187, which defines the crime of murder, the
phrase "l87AllRats' means that individuals who cooperate with law
enforcement should be murdered.

Overt Acts

24.

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to achieve its objectives,

the defendant and his coconspirators committed the following overt acts,
among others, in the District of New Jersey, and elsewhere:

a.

In or around 2003, following the federal conviction of

the then-eisting leaders of the NJ Grape Street Crips, Coconspirator Hamlet
took over as the de facto leader of the NJ Grape Street Crips.

b.

After in or about May 2010, Coconspirator Hamlet

began to demand that Victim A.A. and Victim A.A.'s associates make cash

payments to Coconspirator Hamlet because Coconspirator Hamlet believed that
associates of Victim A.A. were responsible for shooting at Coconspirator Hamlet

in or about May 201O.

c.

In or about October 2012, Coconspirator Hamlet

travelled to Los Angeles to meet with members of the Grape Street Crips in
Watts, l,os Angeles, California.

d.

From in or about January 2013 through in or about

November 10, 2013, MORALES and Coconspirator Batts were involved in the
12
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distribution of heroin, including by sending quantities heroin down to the area
of Durham, North Carolina.

e.

On or about July

1

1, 2O13, Coconspirator Hamlet

posted a photograph of himself posing with Coconspirator Mack taken at the

Court Street Location and wrote, "The wait is over!!!!l!!! My #miniMe done
touched down. #GameChanger # WBL #103RD #WELCHES #SHHHHH!!!!!!l!ll!,"
thereby communicating to his followers that Coconspirator Mack, one of his
closest enforcers, was out

f.

ofjail and back out on the streets.

On or about August 20,2013, MORALES,

Coconspirator Carnegie, and another individual were in and around Durham
North Carolina, in a rented Chrysler 3O0 inside of which was, among other
things, a fully loaded revolver and approximately $5,263 in United States
currency.

g.

In or about the summer 2013, Coconspirator Batts

told Coconspirator Hamlet that he (Coconspirator Batts) had information about
the whereabouts of Victim A.A. In response, Coconspirator Hamlet toid
Coconspirator Batts, in sum and substance, not to miss when shooting Victim
A.A.

h.

On or about September 18, 2013, Coconspirator

Hamlet posted on social media a photograph of Coconspirator Mack and wrote,
"Follow my mini me @WelchsGrapel03 the chosen one. #NoCompromise #WBL
#FuckYourFeelings #Fastlane #Animal #Babyloc #MyHandsCallForlt," thereby

13
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informing his followers that Coconspirator Mack was Coconspirator Hamlet's
"chosen one.'

i.

On or about September 29, 2013, Coconspirator

Washington used a social media account to post a photograph of Coconspirator

Mack and Coconspirator Washington and wrote, among other things,
"TEAMKAR," which referred to "Team Kill All Rats,' thereby informing his

followers that the NJ Grape Street Crips kill individuals who cooperate with law
enforcement.

j.

On or about October 3, 2013, Coconspirator Mack

spoke by telephone with Coconspirator Batts about their plan to purchase

heroin after Coconspirator Mack delivered a bag of United States currency to
Coconspirator Batts.

k.

On or about October 3, 2013, Coconspirator Hamlet,

Coconspirator Mack, Coconspirator Batts, Coconspirator Washington, and
other members of the NJ Grape Street Crips celebrated "ten-trey da1/ at the
6th Avenue Location.

l.

On or about October 3,2013, Coconspirator Mack

possessed a semi-automatic pistol at the "ten-trey da5/ celebration at t.I"e 6th

Avenue l,ocation.

m.

On or about October 3, 2013, Coconspirator Hamlet

posted a message on social media disputing a then-ongoing rumor that

Coconspirator Hamlet had purportedly cooperated with law enforcement and

indicating that Coconspirator Hamlet would be retaliating against the
l4
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individual whom he believed was spreading the rumor by writing, specifically:
"This a lil tune for the #1ame #Ducks #CornBalls who can't leave there [sic]
block and do the social media gangster
#

NeverHadACoDefendant #IDoMyTime

shit. I salute youtlltll
#Tial

#

1

2lnfheJuryBox...... I deserve

everything I got. See where you dumb niggas Fucked up is allowing a #Goon to
get money...... Watching #LawAndOrder or #CSI don't qualiff you to be a

detective...... Oh well let the games begin. Lmfao ya skirt will get pulled up
#DontFeedTheAnimals.'

n.

On or about October 4,2013, Coconspirator Batts

spoke by telephone with MORALES about individuals who were disseminating

purported offrcial government paperwork indicating that Coconspirator Hamlet
had cooperated with a prior law enforcement investigation. Specifrcally,
Coconspirator Batts told MORALES that "only G's know," meaning that only NJ
Grape Street Crips with the rank of "G" knew about the purported paperwork.

After MORALES asked, "You know where it's coming from?," Coconspirator
Batts further stated, Your man from Johnson . . . handed the paperwork out
to niggas in the South Ward," referring to his belief that Victim A.A. had

distributed the purported paperwork on Coconspirator Hamlet to individuals in
Newark's South Ward.

o.

On or about October 5, 2013, MORALES arrd

Coconspirator Batts had telephone conversations regarding a lirearm that
MORALES had provided to Coconspirator Batts.

15
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On or about October 5, 2013, Coconspirator Mack

spoke by telephone with Coconspirator Batts. During that call, Coconspirator

Batts admitted that he had missed an opportunity to kill Victim A.A. at the
Court Street Location.

q.

In a subsequent conversation later in the day on or

about October 5, 2013, Coconspirator Mack ordered Coconspirator Batts to
have loaded firearms on stand-by and to have junior gang members patrolling

the Court Street l,ocation in case Victim A.A. were to return.

r.

On or about October 22, 2013, Coconspirator Hamlet

posted another message on social media disputing the rumor that

Coconspirator Hamlet had purportedly cooperated with law enforcement and

indicating that Coconspirator Hamlet would be retaliating against the
individual whom Coconspirator Hamlet believed to be responsible for
disseminating the rumor by writing, specifically: "This the last time I'm
addressing

this.

For all you dick sucking niggas who slander me and back

bite..... I never #Told #Ratted #Snitched on #Noone... #IDoMyTime #Trial
#12lnABox...... No-one on the pla-net is in jail because of melt!!!!ll!!! For all you
lames who saw this paperwork know it's a fraud and question my manhood

can come get a sample !!!!ll!!!!! If I don't speak please believe it's like that!l!!!!!!!!
You corny country nigga will never be on my levelt!!!!l!llll!!!lll I play by the

rules!!!l!!!llll That's why a live nigga will never respect the antics of you
cowardslllll! #Google the names you pet detective.... nothing adds up. But

16
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your [sic] got the right idea just the wrong niggaltlllt But now that you have my
attention I'll play with you..... GM ig. Lmfao."

s.

Shortly thereafter, between on or about October 22,

2013, and on or about October 24,2013, Coconspirator Hamlet used social
media to show his followers the power that he held, and the vast number of
gang members and associates whom he could mobilize, as the leader of the NJ

Grape Street Crips, by posting several photographs showing Coconspirator

Hamlet standing in front of dozens of members and associates of the NJ Grape
Street Crips, including Coconspirator Mack, and by writing, among other

things, "Fuck with me you know I got it!l!l!!ll!!!!!l! #Literally," "Not all animals
are allowed in the jungle!!!!l!!!tl! #Hyenas and #Jackals #StayHungry

#BreadBread or #Starve," and "#NoPasses #NoCompromise

#NoWhereToRun!tl!!!!!!!! #TeamTapYouOut."

t.

In or about October 2013, Coconspirator Hamlet met

with Victim A.A. at the Short Hills Mall, in Millburn, New Jersey, to discuss the
ongoing dispute between Coconspirator Hamlet and Victim A.A.

u.

On or about October 25,2013, Coconspirator Hamlet

used social media to inform his followers that Victim A.A. was a "snitch"
because Victim A.A. had purportedly given a statement that led to the

incarceration of one of Coconspirator Hamlet's associates, by posting on socia-l
media a report from the Essex County Prosecutor's Office purportedly showing

that Victim A.A. had provided a statement to law enforcement in a murder
investigation.
t7
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v.

On or about October 27,2013, Coconspirator Batts,

Coconspirator Phillips, Coconspirator Manley, and Coconspirator A.H.-while

driving in Coconspirator Manley's Jeep Cherokee SRT8-attempted to murder
Victim A.A. and Victim S.G., who were shot multiple times while seated in a
vehicle on a street in Newark, New Jersey. During the course of the attempted

murder, Coconspirator Batts sustained a gunshot wound to his hand when
Coconspirator A.H. accidentally shot Coconspirator Batts through the hand
while aiming at Victim A.A. and Victim S.G.

w.

On or about October 27,2013, following the attempted

murder described in Overt Act 24(v), Coconspirator Manley, Coconspirator
Phillips, and Coconspirator A.H. drove Coconspirator Batts to Saint Michael's
Hospital in Newark, New Jersey, where Coconspirator Batts provided a false
name to police who interviewed him about his gunshot wound.

x.

On or about October 29, 2OL3, following the attempted

murder described in Overt Act 24(vl, Coconspirator Hamlet posted on social
media a postcard that stated, "Rumors are carried by Haters spread by Fools &
accepted by Idiots." In this post, Coconspirator Hamlet wrote, "#Sayless."

y.

On or about October 30,2013, Coconspirator C.P., a

member of the NJ Grape Street Crips, used a Chevrolet Impala-which had
been rented by MORALES-in an attempt to transport to New Jersey:

(l) two

Norinco 7.62 x 39 semi-automatic rifles; (2) a Hi-Point 9mm semi-automatic

rifle; (3) three 30 round magazines for the Norico rifles; (4) a nine round
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magazine for the Hi-Point rifle; and (5) approximately 53 7.62 x 39 rounds for

the Norico rifles.

z.

After law enforcement in Maryland stopped

Coconspirator C.P. and discovered the cache of weapons, Coconspirator C.P.

jumped into oncoming trafltc on Interstate-95 and died as a result.

aa.

On or about October 30, 2013, MORALES posted on

Instagram a photograph of Coconspirator C.P., MORALES, and other

individuals dressed in purple, and he captioned the photograph: "Sick to my
stomache... Was trying to hold
believe

it in... lost a good friend of mine...still can't

it #G-Hop," in reference to Coconspirator C.P.'s death.

bb.

On or about October 31, 2013, MORALES posted on

his Instagram account a photograph showing what appears to be MORALES
cryrng, and he captioned the photograph: "You gotta be a real loved one for me

to shed a tear for you... Dam G-Hop!," in reference to Coconspirator C.P.'s
death.

cc.

On or about November 8, 2073, associates of Victim

A.A. murdered Coconspirator A.H. in retaliation for Coconspirator A.H.'s

participation in the attempted murder of Victim A.A.

dd.

After the murder of Victim A.H. on or about November

8,2013, but prior to on or about November LO,2013, MORALES and
Coconspirator Batts met with Coconspirator Hamlet at the Pennington Court
Location.

T9
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During this meeting, Coconspirator Hamlet gave

MORALES and Coconspirator Batts the green light to "even the scoreboard,"

meaning that MORALES and Coconspirator Batts were to kill Victim A.A. and
his associates.

ff.

During this meeting, Coconspirator Hamlet also

informed MORALES and Coconspirator Batts that he (Coconspirator Hamlet)
had met with Victim A.A. at the Short Hills Mall in Milburn, New Jersey, after a
fellow member of the NJ Grape Street Crips-who was also related to Victim

A.A.-set up the meeting. Coconspirator Hamlet informed MORALES and
Coconspirator Batts that he no longer trusted this gang-member.

gg.

After leaving the meeting with Coconspirator Hamlet,

MORALES and Coconspirator

Batts-while armed with firearms-drove around

Newark in an attempt to murder Victim A.A. or his associates.

hh.

Subsequently, in or about November 2013,

Coconspirator Batts handwrote a letter to Coconspirator Mack. In that letter,
Coconspirator Batts told Coconspirator Mack that he (Coconspirator Batts) and
"Rizzo was hunting for two days straight" because "Big Bruh (referring to

Coconspirator Hamlet) gave us the green to do what we want to even the score
board."

ii.

At some point after the shooting of Victim A.A. and

Victim S.G. on or about October 27,2013, Coconspirator Hamlet met with
MORALES, Coconspirator Terrell, and other individuals at the Pennington

Court Location. During this meeting, Coconspirator Hamlet ordered
20
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Coconspirator Terrell to murder Victim A.W. and Victim A.A. because, among
other reasons, Coconspirator Hamlet believed that Victim A.W. was too close to

Victim A.A. and that Victim A.W. had been disloyal to Coconspirator Hamlet
and the NJ Grape Street Crips.

ii.

On or about November 12,2013, Coconspirator

Washington lured Victim A.W. into a Jeep Cherokee.

kk.

On or about November 12,2013, after Coconspirator

Washington purposely left Victim A.W. alone inside the Jeep Cherokee at or
around the 6th Avenue Location, Coconspirator Terrell shot Victim A.W. once

in the head.

11.

On or about March 9, 2014, MORALES posted a

photograph on his Instagram account showing him posing with two assault
rifles, and he captioned the photograph, "Me and my 2 lil homies, A-Keezy &
Mac Neezy."
A11

in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962(d).
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NOTICE OF SPECIAL SENTENCING FACTOR REGARDING COUNT ONE

From in or around January 2013 through on or about November
1O,

2013, in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey, and elsewhere, the

defendant,
RAMON MORALES,
a/k/ a "Ray Rizzo,"

alkla'Rizzo,"
alk/a"Rizzolir,i,"
did knowingly and intentionally conspire and agree with others to distribute,
and to possess witJ. intent to distribute, one kilogram or more of a mixture and
substance containing a detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I controlled
substance, contrary to Title
(bX1XA),

2 1,

United States Code, Sections 841(a) and

in violation of Title 27, United States Code, Section 846.
A11

in vioiation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962(dl.
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COUNT TWO

(Violent Crime ln Aid of Racketeerlng
Consplracy to Commit Murderf

1.

-

The allegations contained in Paragraphs One through

Twenty and Twenty-Three through Twent5r-Four of Count One of this

Indictment are realleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth
herein.

2.

At all times relevant to this Indictment, the NJ Grape Street

Crips, including its leaders, members, and associates, constituted an
enterprise as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(b)(2), that
is, a group of individuals associated in fact that was engaged in, and the
activities of which affected, interstate and foreigrr commerce. The enterprise
constituted an ongoing organization whose members functioned as a

continuing unit for a common purpose of achieving the objectives of the
enterprise.

3.

At all times relevant to this Indictment, the NJ Grape Street

Crips, the above-described enterprise, through its leaders, members and
associates, engaged in racketeering activity, as defined in Title 18, United
States Code, Sections 1959(b)(1) and 1961(1), that is:

a.
2C

:11

-3 (a)

(1

Multiple acts involving murder, contrary to N.J.S.A.

), 2C: L t -3(a)(2), 2C :5- 1 (a), and 2C :5-2; and

b.

Multiple offenses involving the felonious manufacture,

importation, receiving, concealment, buying, selling, and otherwise dealing in a
controlled substance punishable under the laws of the United States, in
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United States Code, Section 846 (conspiracy to distribute

and possess with intent to distribute controlled substances), Section 841

(distribution and possession with intent to distribute controlled substances),
and Section 843(b) (use of a communications facility to violate the Controlled
Substances Act).

4.

From at least on or about October 4,2013, through on or

about November 10, 2013, in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey, and
elsewhere, the defendant,
RAMON MORALES,
a/k/a "Ray Rizzo,"

alk/a"Rizzo,"
a/k/ a "Rizzolini,"
for the purpose of gaining entrance to, and maintaining and increasing position

in, the NJ Grape Street Crips, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity,
did knowingly and purposely conspire and agree with others to murder Victim
A.A., contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C: I1-3(a)(1), 2C:L1-3(a\(21, and 2C:5-2.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(a)(5).
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COUNT THREE

(Attempted Murder in Aid of Racketeeringl

l.

The allegations contained in Paragraphs One through Three

of Count Two of this Indictment are realleged and incorporated by reference as

though fully set forth herein.

2.

Between on or about November 8, 2013, through on or about

November 10, 2013, in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey, and
elsewhere, the defendant,
RAMON MORALES,
alk/a"Ray Rizzo,"
alkla "Riz,zo,"

a/k/a"Rizzolirri',"
for the purpose of gaining entrance to, and maintaining and increasing posiLion

in, the NJ Grape Street Crips, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity,
together with others known and unknown, did knowingly and purposely

attempt to murder Victim A.A., contrary to N.J.S.A. 2C:11-3(a)(1), 2C:113(a)(2), and 2C:5- 1(a).

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(a)(5), and

Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.
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COUNT FOUR
a Dangerous Weapoa ia Aid of Racketeerlngl

The allegations contained in Paragraphs One through Three

of Count TWo of this Indictment are realleged and incorporated by reference as

though fully set forth herein.

2.

Between on or about November a,2Ol3, and on or about

November 1O,2013, in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey, and
elsewhere, the defendant,
RAMON MORALES,
alkla"Ray Rizzo,"

a/k/a"Rizzo,"

alkl

a "Rizzolini,"

for the purpose of gaining entrance to, and maintaining and increasing position

in, the NJ Grape Street Crips, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity,
did knowingly and purposely attempt to assault Victim A.A. with a dangerous
weapon, specifically, a firearm, contrary to N.J.S.A. 2c:12-1(bl(21 and 2C:2-6.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(a)(3), and

Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.
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COUNT FryE
lUse and Carrying of a Flrearm Durlng a Crime of Violencef
Between on or about November 8, 2013, and on or about
November 10, 2013, in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey, and
elsewhere, the defendant,
RAMON MORALES,
a/kla"Ray Rizzo,'

alk/a"Rizzo,"
alkla"Rizzolini,"
during and in relation to a crime of violence for which he may be prosecuted in
a court of the United States, specifically, the attempted murder charged in

Count Three of this Indictment and the attempted assault in aid of racketeering
charged in Count Four of this Indictment, did knowingly use and carry a

firearm, and, in furtherance of that crime, did possess a firearm.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 92a(c)(1)(A)(i),
and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

.>7
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COUITT Sf,K

(Conspiracy to Dlstrlbute Herolnf
From in or around January 2O13 through on or about November
10, 2013, in Essex County, in the District of New Jersey, and elsewhere, the

defendant,
RAMON MORALES,
alk/a"Ray Rizzo,"
alkl a "Rrzzo,"

alkla"Rizzolin|"

did knowingly and intentiona-lly conspire and agree with others to distribute,
and to possess with intent to distribute, one kilogram or more of a mixture and
substa-nce containing a detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I controlled

substance, contrary to Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a) and
(bx1xA).

In violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 846.

2a
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATION

1.

The allegations contained in Count One through Count Four

of this Indictment are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference for the
purpose of alleging forfeitures pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section
1963.

2.

Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1963,

upon conviction of an offense in violation of Tit1e 18, United States Code,
Section 1962, the defendant,
RAMON MORALES,
a/k/a"Ray Rizzo,"

alkla"Rizzo,"

a/kla "Rizzolin|"
shall forfeit to the United States of America:

(a)

any interest acquired or maintained in violation of Section
1962;

(b)

any interest in, securit5r of, claim against, or property or
contractual right of any kind affording a source of influence
over, any enterprise which the defendant[s] established,
operated, controlled, conducted, or participated in the

conduct of, in violation of Section 1962; arrd

(c)

any property constituting, or derived from, any proceeds

obtained, directly or indirectly, from racketeering activit5r or

unlau{ul debt collection in violation of Section 1962.
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Substitute Assets Provision

3.

If any ofthe above-described forfeitable property, as a result

of any act or omission of the defendant:

(a)

cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

(b)

has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third

party;

(c)

has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

(d)

has been substantially diminished in value; or

(e)

has been commingled with other property which cannot be

subdivided without diffi culty;
the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute
property pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1963(m).
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATION AS TO CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE COUNTS

1.

As a result of committing the controlled substance offenses

alleged in Count Six of this Indictment, the defendant,
RAMON MORALES,
alkla"Ray Rizzo,"

a/k/a"Rrzzo,"
a

/k/

a "Rizzolirli,"

shall forfeit to the United States pursuant to 21 U.S.C.

S

853, any and all

property constituting or derived from any proceeds the said defendant obtained
directly or indirectly as a result of the said violation and any and all property
used or intended to be used in any manner or part to commit and to facilitate
the commission of the violation alleged in Count Six of this Indictment.

Substitute Aesets Prowlslon

2.

If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result

of any act or omission of the defendant:

(a)
(b)

cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third
person;

(c)
(d)
(e)

has been placed beyond the jurisdiction ofthe Court;
has been substantiaily diminished in value; or
has been commingled with other property which cannot be

subdivided without diffi cult

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to 21 U.S.C. S 853(p), to seek
forfeiture of any other property of said defendant up to the value of the above
31
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forfeitable property.

All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(dXl) and
Title 28, United States Code. Section 2a6l{rc.l.

ATRUE BILL

CRAIG

United States Attorney
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